Case No. S269212

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CALIFORNIA MEDICAL ASSOCIATION,

Petitioner,

v.

AETNA HEALTHCARE OF CALIFORNIA, INC. D/B/A AETNA U.S. HEALTHCARE INC.; and AETNA HEALTH OF CALIFORNIA, INC.,

Respondents.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District Case No. B304217 (Los Angeles County Superior Court No. BC487412)

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

Service on the Attorney General and District Attorney required by Bus. & Prof. Code § 17209 and Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.29

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether an organization that expends resources and diverts them from other activities in response to a defendant's alleged violations of the Unfair Competition Law (Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 17200 et seq.) suffers injury in fact and a loss of money or property sufficient to establish standing to seek relief under the UCL.

2. Whether an organization that otherwise satisfies the requirements for UCL standing loses that standing if it has members who are also injured by the defendant's challenged practices and who would also benefit from the relief requested by the organization.

3. Whether an organization that pursues injunctive relief under the UCL on behalf of the general public or on its own behalf is seeking "representative" relief that requires compliance with Code of Civil Procedure section 382.

I. INTRODUCTION

In 2004, the voters of this State enacted Proposition 64, which amended Business and Professions Code Sections 17203 and 17204 to add two requirements for standing under the Unfair Competition Law ("UCL"): first, the plaintiff must show injury in fact and lost money or property; and second, if pursuing "representative" claims for relief on behalf of others, the plaintiff must also satisfy the requirements of Code of Civil Procedure Section 382. In Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 1756, AFL-CIO v. Superior Court (2009) 46 Cal.4th 993 ("Amalgamated Transit"), this Court held that Proposition 64's standing requirements precluded two membership organizations from pursuing claims under the UCL after they conceded having suffered *no* injury or loss of their own money or property, even though the organizations' members had suffered injury and had purported to assign their individual claims for relief to those organizations. (Id. at p. 998.)

This case presents a different question: whether Proposition 64 also eliminated the UCL standing of associations or organizations that show they *have* suffered injury in fact and a loss of money or property simply because they have members who were also injured by the practices at issue and who would also benefit from the requested relief. There is no indication in Proposition 64's language or history that the voters meant to foreclose such standing. Quite the opposite: the voters left intact Section 17201's definition of "persons" entitled to bring UCL actions to include "associations and other organizations of

persons." The Court of Appeal erred in holding otherwise.

For the reasons set forth below, this Court should conclude that an organization that has suffered injury in fact and a loss of money or property—like CMA here—has standing to seek statutory remedies under the UCL. This Court should further hold, consistent with *McGill v. Citibank*, *N.A.* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 945, that an organization that satisfies the UCL's standing requirements, like CMA, may seek public injunctive relief without having to satisfy Section 382's class certification requirements, and finally, that an organization with UCL standing may seek injunctive relief on its own behalf as a "person" under the UCL.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner CMA brought this action to challenge implementation of a policy adopted by Respondents Aetna Healthcare of California, Inc. d/b/a/ Aetna U.S. Healthcare Inc., and Aetna Health of California, Inc. ("Aetna") that effectively precluded physicians enrolled in Aetna's physician network from referring patients to out-of-network providers, even after the physicians had determined that the referrals were consistent with their sound medical judgment. CMA contended that Aetna's policy of directing or controlling where and from whom patients were eligible to receive services violated numerous state laws and was designed to discourage physicians in Aetna's network from delivering medical services in a manner they thought appropriate and to interfere with the medical judgment of Aetna healthcare providers. CMA further alleged that Aetna's continued implementation of this policy was forcing CMA to divert organizational resources in order to investigate Aetna's unlawful practices, to advise CMA's member and nonmember physicians about how to respond to those practices, and to advocate for measures to counteract Aetna's conduct.

By way of background, CMA is a 165-year-old organization, established to advance the art and science of medicine for the benefit of physicians, patients, and the public health. It is a membership organization, comprised of nearly 40,000 California physicians. (Joint Appendix transferred to this Court on June 9, 2021 ("JA") 379, 958.) CMA's mission is not only to advocate for physicians and patients throughout the State, but also to protect the public health of California residents. (*Id.*)¹

Aetna sells health insurance and health benefit plans to individuals and businesses in California and represents in its plan documents that its member patients may obtain healthcare from physicians of their choice through Aetna Preferred Provider Organization ("PPO") and Point of Service ("POS") plans. These PPO/POS plans typically differentiate between coverage for medical treatment provided by: (a) in-network providers, who agree to accept discounted rates from insurers such as Aetna, and (b) out-of-network providers. (JA 4, 9, 373.)

¹ Documents containing or discussing specific examples of Aetna's implementation of its Non-Par Intervention Policy are set forth in CMA's Appellant's Supplemental Appendix ("ASA"), which was filed under seal in the Court of Appeal on January 29, 2021.

Aetna typically charges more for these plans than for plans with more restrictive coverage, such as Health Maintenance Organization ("HMO") plans. (JA 373.)

Aetna's standard provider agreements with in-network physicians authorize those physicians to recommend to Aetna members with PPO or POS benefits that they may have their surgeries or other services performed at out-of-network ambulatory surgery centers if the referral is "consistent with [the physician's] sound medical judgment." (JA 218-219, 255, 383, 388, 412, 422.) Member patients then decide whether to accept the referral in reliance on their physician's professional medical judgment. (JA 206-207, 253, 375-376, 420, 465, 483, 659, 741.)

Despite contracting to provide these out-of-network benefits, Aetna began to restrict or eliminate out-of-network referrals in 2008 when it adopted and began implementing its "Non-Par Intervention Policy"—the policy at issue. Pursuant to that policy (as originally drafted and then as modified in 2011), Aetna sent letters to many in-network physicians, threatening them with termination and/or actually terminating them from Aetna's physician network solely because those physicians, in the exercise of their sound medical judgment, referred patients to out-of-network providers or ambulatory surgery centers. (JA 4, 6-7, 11-13, 46-51, 118-132, 205-208, 214-217, 223-225, 393-395, 1182-1188.) Aetna took these adverse actions even when the affected physicians informed Aetna of the sound medical reasons supporting their out-of-network referrals. (See ASA

127-151, 152-157, 158-166, 167-173.)

Aetna also sent threatening letters to member patients who had elected to use their out-of-network benefits, pressuring them to change their election or risk losing coverage for their upcoming surgeries. (JA 38, 163-164, 224-226, 376, 394-396.)

Several years before CMA became a party to this lawsuit, it began undertaking efforts to combat the adverse impacts that Aetna's Non-Par Intervention Policy was having on CMA itself, on its members, on other physicians who do not belong to CMA, and on Aetna's California patient population. (JA 958-959.) Despite CMA's efforts, Aetna refused to modify or revoke its challenged policy or otherwise to ameliorate the policy's adverse impacts.

III. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In June 2012, several physicians, including Marc Kerner, M.D., and later Bryant Lum, M.D., filed a lawsuit asserting claims against Aetna, including a claim for relief under the UCL, to remedy the harms they suffered as the result of Aetna's implementation of its Non-Par Intervention Policy. In July 2012, several professional membership and public interest organizations, including CMA, filed a related action seeking relief pursuant to California Business and Professions Code Section 17203. (JA 1-34, 957-960.)

Plaintiffs in these actions alleged that in violation of multiple provisions of California law, Aetna's Non-Par Intervention Policy interfered with Aetna's in-network physicians' exercise of sound medical judgment and with its member patients' right to rely on that judgment. (JA 374-400, 1086-1095, 1160-1162, 1182-1188).² Plaintiffs further alleged that Aetna's adoption and implementation of its Non-Par Intervention Policy constituted an "unlawful" and "unfair" business practice that entitled Plaintiffs to injunctive relief and other remedies under the UCL.³

³ See Blue Cross of California, Inc. v. Superior Court (2009) 180 Cal.App.4th 1237, 1250 ("By statute, under both the Insurance Code and the Health and Safety Code, postclaims underwriting is an unlawful practice and thus may be enjoined under the UCL."); Community Hospital of Monterey Peninsula v. Aetna Life Insurance Co. (N.D. Cal. 2015) 119 F.Supp.3d 1042, 1051 (upholding challenge to Aetna's unlawful business practices

² For example, plaintiffs alleged that Aetna's policy violated Insurance Code section 10133 (prohibiting insurers "to direct, participate in, or control the selection of the hospital or health facility or physician and surgeon...from whom the insured secures services or exercise medical...professional judgment"). Business & Professions Code section 2056.1 (prohibiting insurers from "enter[ing] into contracts with physicians and surgeons or other licensed health care providers that interfere with any ethical responsibility or legal right of physicians and surgeons...to discuss with their patients information relevant to their patients' health care", including "communications regarding treatment options"); Business & Professions Code sections 2056 and 510 (providing "protection against retaliation for physicians [for] advocat[ing] for medically appropriate health care for their patients," or from "prohibit[ing], restrict[ing], or in any way discourag[ing] a physician and surgeon from communicating to a patient information in furtherance of medically appropriate health care"); and Health and Safety Code sections 1363.5 and 1367 (requiring plans to disclose to network providers the processes used "to authorize, modify, or deny health care services under the benefits provided by the plan."). (JA 403-406.)

Aetna filed a demurrer, arguing that *Amalgamated Transit* precluded CMA and other public interest organizations from proceeding under the UCL. (JA 284.) On December 9, 2013, the trial court overruled Aetna's demurrer. (JA 341, 368.)

On January 6, 2014, the individual and organization plaintiffs jointly filed a consolidated Fifth Amended Complaint. (JA 372-435.) On April 24, 2014, Aetna filed an Answer and a cross-complaint against Drs. Kerner and Lum, both of whom Aetna had previously terminated from its network. (JA 440-452, 453-497.)

After seven years of litigation, discovery, and unsuccessful settlement negotiations, Aetna agreed to dismiss its cross-claims against Drs. Kerner and Lum in exchange for Plaintiffs' agreement to limit this lawsuit to CMA's claims for injunctive relief under the UCL. (JA 545-576.) In the parties' Stipulation of Dismissal (JA 564-566, 571), CMA agreed to pursue only "its claim for injunctive relief" under the UCL and not any claims for restitution on its own behalf or on behalf of its members. (JA 558.) The trial court set the case for trial on December 9, 2019. (JA 547.)

On August 6, 2019, the parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment or summary adjudication. (JA 590-1430.) On the issue of standing, CMA presented evidence that it had suffered an "injury in fact and has lost money or property" (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17204) as a result of Aetna's unlawful practices.

under UCL based on violation of provisions of Health and Safety Code).

(See JA 1145-1158, 1163-1166, 1314-1316.) For example, Francisco Silva, CMA's General Counsel and Senior Vice President, submitted a declaration stating that CMA had diverted staff resources from other projects and responsibilities in order to investigate and counter Aetna's Non-Par Intervention Policy and, that in response to Aetna's termination and threatened termination of physicians, CMA also devoted staff resources to advising physicians and the public about how to address Aetna's threats and actions; to preparing public educational resources pertaining to that policy, including articles, a resource guide, and talking points; to communicating with individual CMA members about how to respond to Aetna's actions most effectively; and to direct interactions with Aetna in an effort to persuade it to withdraw its policy and stop terminating or threatening to terminate physicians who issued out-of-network referrals when, in the exercise of their professional judgment, those referrals were medically appropriate. (JA 957-960.) CMA also expended staff time and other resources to urge the state agencies responsible for overseeing Aetna to investigate Aetna's Non-Par Intervention Policy and to take appropriate action to put a halt to Aetna's practices and bring it into compliance with its legal obligations. (JA 1154, 1182-88.) Silva estimated that CMA diverted between 200 and 250 hours of staff time to address these issues. (JA 959-960, 1150-1151, 1155.)4

⁴ Aetna did not file any objections to the admissibility of any of this evidence on the standing issue, but asserted in

After conducting two hearings on the parties' cross-motions for summary judgment (see JA 1546-1567), the trial court on November 25, 2019, reversed its prior demurrer ruling and held that CMA lacked standing as a matter of law to seek relief under the UCL because *Amalgamated Transit* "foreclose[d] CMA from bringing a UCL action as an association." (JA 1542-1543, 1558-1559.) CMA timely appealed. (JA 1601.)

On April 28, 2021, the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's summary judgment ruling. (*California Medical Ass'n v. Aetna Health of Cal.* (2021) 63 Cal.App.5th 660 (Grimes, J.).) Construing *Amalgamated Transit* as holding that a membership organization like CMA can never pursue any claims for relief under the UCL if that relief would benefit the organization's members, even if that relief would also benefit the organization itself and even if the organization presented evidence of its own Proposition 64 injury in fact, the panel concluded that CMA lacked standing as a matter of law and that the trial court had properly entered judgment for Aetna.

The panel rejected CMA's reliance on *Animal Legal* Defense Fund v. LT Napa Partners LLC (2015) 234 Cal.App.4th 1270 ("ALDF"), which held that an association's diversion of resources to combat an unlawful practice is an injury that confers UCL standing. The panel suggested that ALDF was inconsistent with Amalgamated Transit. (63 Cal.App.5th at p.

response to CMA's Statement of Undisputed Facts that material facts concerning CMA's standing were "disputed." (JA 1314-1316.)

669). It also sought to distinguish *ALDF* on the ground that, unlike the plaintiff association in *ALDF* (which according to the panel may not have been a membership organization),⁵ CMA's requested injunctive relief would inevitably benefit not only CMA but also CMA's members. The panel thus concluded that this potential benefit to CMA's members made plaintiff's lawsuit a "representative action seeking to rectify injury to [CMA's] aggrieved members," whether or not CMA would itself benefit from the requested injunction and regardless of whether other members of the public would also benefit from that injunction. (*Id.* at p. 669 ["[L]ike the union in *Amalgamated Transit*, CMA brought this representative action to rectify injury to its aggrieved physician members."].)

Ignoring that CMA also sought to rectify the injury in fact to its own money and property (and that the plaintiffs in *Amalgamated Transit* had disclaimed any organizational injury to themselves), the panel warned that if a membership organization could obtain UCL standing by showing that its efforts to combat an unlawful or unfair practice caused it to suffer economic injury, "any organization acting consistently with its mission to help its members through legislative, legal and regulatory advocacy could claim standing based on its efforts to address its members' injuries," a result the panel believed was precluded by Proposition 64's prohibition against

 $^{^5}$ The panel was not sure, stating that "[t]he *ALDF* opinion does not even say whether ALDF had members or who they might be." (*Id.* at p. 668.)

purely "representational standing." (*Id.* at p. 668, citing *Amalgamated Transit, supra*, 46 Cal.4th at p. 1005.)

Finally, the panel held that because CMA did not have UCL standing, it could not rely on the holding of *McGill* that any plaintiff with UCL standing may seek public injunctive relief (a *non*-representative remedy) without complying with Code of Civil procedure Section 382. (63 Cal.App.5th at pp. 668-669.)

CMA timely filed its Petition for Review on June 9, 2021, which this Court granted on July 28, 2021.

IV. DISCUSSION

A. Proposition 64 Did Not Eliminate the UCL Standing of Associations that Suffer Injury in Fact and Loss of their Money or Property.

Before Proposition 64, UCL actions could be brought "by any person acting for the interests of itself, its members or the general public." (Bus. & Prof. Code, former § 17204.) Thus, individuals and organizations could bring UCL actions and seek broad relief, including injunctive relief and restitution, without having suffered any injury of their own. (*Amalgamated Transit*, *supra*, 46 Cal.4th at p. 1000.) In enacting Proposition 64, the voters modified the UCL to limit such standing.

Proposition 64 amended the UCL in two respects. First, it amended Business and Professions Code Section 17204 to prevent private "persons" (defined to include "associations and other organizations of persons," Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17201) from bringing UCL claims unless they "suffered injury in fact and ... lost money or property as a result of the unfair competition." Second, it amended Business and Professions Code Section 17203 to require a plaintiff seeking to "pursue representative claims or relief on behalf of others" to "meet[] the standing requirements of Section 17204 and compl[y] with Section 382 of the Code of Civil Procedure."

By enacting Proposition 64, the voters sought to prevent plaintiffs who had suffered no injury at all from pursuing UCL claims as roving private attorneys general, by "prohibit[ing] private attorneys from filing lawsuits for unfair competition where they have no client who has been injured in fact." (Californians for Disability Rights v. Mervyn's, LLC (2006) 39 Cal.4th 223, 228, brackets in original, emphasis added, quoting Prop. 64, § 1, subd. (e) ["Findings and Declarations of Purpose"].) The principal purpose of Proposition 64 was to "close[]a loophole" that had allowed "frivolous shakedown lawsuits" by lawyers whose clients suffered no actual injury. (Motion for Judicial Notice, Ex. A at p. 6; see also *id*. ["Allows individual or class action 'unfair business' lawsuits only if actual loss suffered"]; id. [describing "yes" vote as meaning that private persons cannot bring UCL lawsuits "unless the person has suffered injury and lost money or property" and "no" vote as allowing such lawsuits "without having suffered injury or lost money or property"].)⁶

⁶ See also Motion for Judicial Notice, Ex. A at p. 38 ["Limits individual's right to sue by allowing private enforcement of unfair business competition laws only if that individual was actually injured by, and suffered financial/property loss because of, an unfair business practice."]; *id.* ["This measure prohibits any

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