#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

CALIFORNIA MEDICAL ASSOCIATION,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

AETNA HEALTHCARE OF CALIFORNIA, INC. D/B/A AETNA U.S. HEALTHCARE INC. and AETNA HEALTH OF CALIFORNIA, INC.,

Defendants-Respondents.

Supreme Court Case No. S269212

Petition for Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Case No. B304217

#### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Spertus, Landes & Umhofer, LLP Matthew Umhofer (SBN 206607) Elizabeth Mitchell (SBN 251139) 1990 South Bundy Dr., Suite 705 Los Angeles, CA 90025

Tel.: (310) 826-4700 Fax: (310) 826-4711

Email: matthew@spertuslaw.com

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See also Friends of the Earth v. Sanderson Farms, 992 F.3d 939 (9th Cir. 2021); Rodriguez v. City of San Jose, 930 F.3d 1123, 1134 (9th Cir. 2019); Fair Hous. Council of San Fernando Valley v. Roommate.com, LLC, 666 F.3d 1216 (9th Cir. 2012); Comite de Jornaleros de Redondo Beach v. City of Redondo Beach, 657 F.3d 936, 943 (9th Cir. 2011) (en banc); La Asociación de Trabajadores de Lake Forest v. City of Lake Forest, 624 F.3d 1083, 1088 (9th Cir. 2010); Fair Hous. Of Marin v. Combs, 285 F.3d 899, 905 (9th Cir. 2002); Walker v. City of Lakewood, 272 F.3d 1114, 1124 n.3 (9th Cir. 2001).

or property, and (2) *Amalgamated Transit*'s rule that a UCL plaintiff cannot rely on someone else's loss of money or property. *See supra* Parts I.A–I.B.

The "substantial[] narrow[ing]," *Kwikset*, 51 Cal. 4th at 324, brought about by Proposition 64 forecloses the application of federal standing precedents that conflict with these bedrock rules. For that reason, this Court held in *Amalgamated Transit* that Proposition 64 did not "incorporat[e] the federal doctrine of associational standing" because "the amendments that Proposition 64 made to the unfair competition law are inconsistent with the doctrine of associational standing." 46 Cal. 4th at 1004. That federal doctrine would have allowed suit by a plaintiff that "has *not* itself suffered actual injury but is seeking to act on behalf of its members who have sustained such injury." *Id.* (emphasis in original).

The federal "diverted resources" doctrine that CMA invokes would similarly allow suit by a plaintiff that was not personally injured through the loss of money or property as a result of the defendant's conduct. The text of Proposition 64 and the voters' intent foreclose the idea that a UCL plaintiff can skirt Proposition 64's stringent rules by choosing to advocate against the defendant's conduct. See supra Part I.C. Indeed, importing the "diverted resources" doctrine would effectively overturn Proposition 64 by allowing anyone who wanted to file a UCL lawsuit to create standing for themselves by engaging in advocacy against a would-be defendant before filing suit. See supra at 21–25. The doctrine is therefore just as "inconsistent"

with" Proposition 64 as the federal associational-standing doctrine rejected in *Amalgamated Transit*. 46 Cal. 4th at 1004.

CMA focuses (Br. 21, 27) on Proposition 64's intent to bar lawsuits by lawyers who "have no client who has been injured in fact under the standing requirements of the United States Constitution." Proposition 64 § 1(e). But the voters went further, requiring that only a direct loss of money or property could suffice. See Kwikset, 51 Cal. 4th at 324 n.6 (cataloging Article III injuries that would not suffice under Proposition 64). Accordingly, there is no basis for CMA's claim (Br. 21) that Proposition 64 "incorporat[ed] federal Article III standing jurisprudence into the UCL."

CMA's principal authority for applying the "diverted resources" theory to the UCL's standing provisions relied on a similar assumption that Proposition 64 silently incorporated certain federal standing cases. The court in *Animal Legal Def. Fund v. LT Napa Partners LLC* ("*ALDF*"), 234 Cal. App. 4th 1270 (2015), reasoned that "[c]ases addressing the federal standing requirement" are "relevant" to Proposition 64, *id.* at 1281–82. But *ALDF* never explained why Proposition 64's "substantially narrower" standing rules, *Kwikset*, 51 Cal. 4th at 324, would import the "diverted resources" theory. Nor did it address any of the textual and voter-intent arguments showing that Proposition 64 forecloses the theory. 6

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Even if *ALDF* were correct on the law (it is not), CMA cannot meet the standard it set. *ALDF* found standing where the organization had proven that it expended *specifically identified* money and resources that it otherwise would not have spent. *See* 

ALDF's only other explanation for importing federal case law was that this Court in *Kwikset* supposedly "express[ed] some approval" for the federal diverted-resources doctrine. 234 Cal. App. 4th at 1281. Kwikset said nothing about organizational standing or diverted resources. ALDF nevertheless inferred approval for the doctrine by tracing a convoluted series of rabbit holes. ALDF's reasoning was that, in Kwikset, this Court cited Hall, 158 Cal. App. 4th 847, as "catalogu[ing] some of the various forms of economic injury." 51 Cal. 4th at 323. Hall, in turn, cited S. Cal. Housing v. Los Feliz Towers Homeow., 426 F. Supp. 2d 1061, 1069 (C.D. Cal. 2005). And then, *ALDF* noted, *Hall* described Southern California Housing as finding UCL standing where an organization "lost financial resources and diverted staff time investigating case against defendants." 158 Cal. App. 4th at 854. This Court in *Kwikset* never quoted or otherwise discussed that parenthetical in *Hall*, but *ALDF* nevertheless assumed that the citation to *Hall* indicates this Court's agreement that voluntary diversion of resources is a sufficient injury under the UCL.

This Court does not impliedly adopt the reasoning of every lower-court decision it cites in an opinion, far less the reasoning of everything *cited* in every decision it cites. In any event, *Hall* does not even support CMA's theory. That decision rejected a

<sup>234</sup> Cal. App. 4th at 1280 (resource diversion where plaintiff gave detailed facts regarding advocacy for statutory "ban on the sale of foie gras," including "pa[ying] a private investigator" to investigate potential violations, and then paying staff to investigate those violations to the exclusion of alternative work). CMA has no such evidence. *See infra* Part II.

plaintiff's claim of standing because he "did not allege he suffered an injury in fact under any of" the "definitions" that California courts had given to the term in the four years since the 2004 amendments had been in existence. 158 Cal. App. 4th at 854–55. CMA's inference that *Kwikset* silently adopted a "diverted resources" theory of standing is particularly unwarranted because it would directly contradict what this Court made explicit in *Kwikset*: Standing under the UCL does not exist "for those who have not engaged in any business dealing with would-be defendants." *Kwikset*, 51 Cal. 4th at 317. *ALDF* never attempted to square the "diverted resources" theory with that rule.

ALDF is also unpersuasive for yet another reason—"ALDF did not bring a representation action, as CMA did in this case." Op. 11. Applying ALDF to an organization, like CMA, that "diverts resources" to remedy its members' loss of money or property, is impossible to "square" with Amalgamated Transit, as it would allow any organization with members to skirt Amalgamated Transit's bar on associational standing. See Op. 12; J.A. 1558.

Finally, the two other UCL decisions that CMA cites do not support its theory at all. *Buckland v. Threshold Enterps.*, 155 Cal. App. 4th 798, 814–16 (2d Dist. 2007), rejected an individual's argument that he could establish "economic injury" by choosing to spend money in preparing to litigate a UCL claim against the defendant. And *Two Jinn, Inc. v. Gov't Payment Serv., Inc.*, 233 Cal. App. 4th 1321 (2015), rejected a UCL plaintiff's attempt to

rely on organizational standing and the *Havens Realty* case because "proof that [the plaintiff] spent money to investigate [the defendant's] activities would not show that those allegedly unfair business activities had any independent economic impact on [the plaintiff's] bail bond business," *id.* at 1335.

# II. THERE IS NO EVIDENCE THAT CMA HAS STANDING EVEN UNDER ITS THEORY

Even under CMA's legal theory, summary judgment still was proper because CMA has no *evidence* to prove the injury it claimed. Affirmance is proper on this alternative ground.

1. CMA's federal authorities limit "organizational standing" to situations in which the challenged practice directly "impaired" the organization's "ability to provide . . . services" it normally provides. Havens Realty, 455 U.S. at 379 (recognizing "concrete and demonstrable injury to the organization's activities"). The Havens line of cases does not apply where "the only 'service' impaired is pure issue-advocacy." Ctr. For Law & Educ. v. Dep't of Educ., 396 F.3d 1152, 1162 (D.C. Cir. 2005). CMA's own authority follows this distinction and requires an organization to show that it would have suffered "some other injury if it had not diverted resources to counteracting the problem." La Asociacion de Trabajadores, 624 F.3d at 1088.

CMA does not claim that Aetna's Policy would have caused it any personal injury "if it had not diverted resources" to advocating against the Policy. *Id.* In fact, CMA admitted that the Policy does not apply to its activities at all. R.A. 466; *see* Op. 5 (the Policy "did not apply to CMA, which had no contract with Aetna"). Thus, even if Proposition 64 imported the *Havens* line of

authority, CMA would still lack standing. See Two Jinn, 233 Cal. App. 4th at 1335 (no standing where UCL plaintiff claimed only to have "spent money to investigate" but had no evidence that the "allegedly unfair business activities had any independent economic impact on" it). The Court of Appeal recognized this when it distinguished the plaintiff in ALDF, which "was not advocating on behalf of or providing services to help its members deal with their loss of money or property," from CMA, which spent staff time to engage in member support that "was typical of the support CMA provides its members in furtherance of CMA's mission." Op. 11.

2. According to CMA (Br. 30), the "diverted resources" theory finds standing where an organization suffers "tangible economic harm, not just political or other non-economic impact on the organization's stated policies or purposes," as a result of "making the affirmative decision to devote resources that it would otherwise expend on other activities to mitigate an allegedly unlawful practice that is frustrating the organization's mission." CMA provided no evidence of such "tangible economic harm."

CMA couches its theory as one of lost "resources." Br. 25. But the sole "resource" that it claims to have lost is time spent by its staff to communicate with members, Aetna, and California regulators. *Id.* at 30. CMA admits that the staff were all salaried employees who would have been paid the same amount even had Aetna's Policy not existed. R.A. 213, 224–27, 236, 467. Accordingly, CMA did not lose a single cent.

Proposition 64, however, requires "tangible economic harm," Br. 30, in the form of a loss of "money or property," Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17204. It is well-established that "[l]oss of time is not an economic harm." Knippling v. Saxon Mortg., Inc., 2012 WL 1142355, at \*2 (E.D. Cal. Mar. 22, 2012) (no UCL standing, despite alleged expenditure of time "dealing with Defendant's multiple phone calls and letters"); see also, e.g., Ruiz v. Gap, Inc., 2009 WL 250481, at \*4 (N.D. Cal. Feb. 3, 2009) (no economic injury from time and effort "monitoring one's credit"), aff'd, 380 F. App'x 689 (9th Cir. 2010); In re Sony Gaming Networks & Customer Data Sec. Breach Litig., 903 F. Supp. 2d 942, 966 (S.D. Cal. 2012) (rejecting UCL standing premised upon "time . . . spent on mitigation of" a "heightened risk of identity theft"). At most, CMA's lost time is precisely the kind of "political or other non-economic impact on the organization's stated policies or purposes" that CMA admits is insufficient. Br. 30.

Nor did CMA provide any evidence that the claimed loss of time "resulted in a measurable" financial impact. *Bontrager v. Showmark Media LLC*, 2014 WL 12600201, at \*9 (C.D. Cal. June 20, 2014). CMA admitted below that it had *no information* to quantify the amount of time spent by staff members or its value. R.A. 466–67. In particular, CMA never identified or quantified any money that it spent as a result of the Policy, despite an interrogatory from Aetna seeking such information. R.A. 478–79. And its Persons Most Knowledgeable testified that (1) the organization was not aware of any source "where CMA records or tracks the expenses that it incurs for responding to specific

member inquiries," R.A. 215, and (2) CMA had no information to substantiate the expenditure of funds and, after five years of litigation, was still "working on trying to identify the cost for resources expended," R.A. 223.<sup>7</sup>

CMA cannot avoid these repeated admissions by relying on a "contradictory and self-serving affidavit[]," Whitmire v. Ingersoll-Rand Co., 184 Cal. App. 4th 1078, 1087 (2010) (internal quotation marks omitted), that the organization submitted from its General Counsel for the first time with its opposition brief to summary judgment after discovery closed. "[A] party may not defeat summary judgment by means of declarations or affidavits which contradict that party's deposition testimony or sworn discovery responses." Minish v. Hanuman Fellowship, 214 Cal. App. 4th 437, 459–460 (2013); see also Turley v. Familian Corp., 18 Cal. App. 5th 969, 981 (2017) ("court may disregard the declaration" where "a party takes a position under oath in discovery; the opponent moves for summary judgment; and in opposition the party files a declaration that conflicts with its earlier testimony"). In any event, that declaration merely asserts without explanation that 200–250 hours of time were spent (by salaried staff), and says nothing about any expenditure of money. J.A. 960.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In a footnote, Br. 37 n.9, CMA asks this Court to reopen discovery. There is no basis to reopen fact discovery when CMA already had more than five years to conduct fact discovery, agreed to the November 2, 2019 date for the close of fact discovery, never asked the trial court to reopen discovery, and did not challenge on appeal any of the trial court's rulings regarding the pre-trial schedule or management of discovery.

# III. THE COURT SHOULD NOT ADDRESS CMA'S MUSINGS ON THE APPROPRIATE REMEDY

Toward the end of its brief, CMA engages in an extended discussion (Br. 37–48) of the remedies it believes are available to it. CMA asks the Court to hold that the relief it seeks is "public injunctive relief" and that, even if that is not the case, CMA can obtain an injunction without seeking class certification. The Court should not decide these arguments, which the Court of Appeal and trial court did not reach. To the extent the Court is inclined to decide those arguments, however, they do not help CMA. Rather, they provide an alternative ground for affirmance.

# A. The Remedies Available to CMA Are Not Before This Court

Before the trial court, Aetna sought summary judgment on a number of grounds in addition to standing, including that CMA could not obtain the particular injunctive relief it is seeking as a matter of law. R.A. 10–36. The trial court granted summary judgment to Aetna on standing grounds and, thus, had no occasion to reach the issue of remedies. J.A. 1553–1558. The Court of Appeal did the same. The only reference the Court of Appeal made to remedies was to state that it was "[a]ssuming without deciding" that CMA was *correct* that it sought public injunctive relief. Op. 12. The Court of Appeal found only that this assumption did not change the applicable rules for UCL standing, as this Court's decision in *McGill* held that plaintiffs seeking public injunctive relief still must show that they "suffered injury in fact and . . . lost money or property." 2 Cal. 5th at 959. Thus, no court has decided anything about the

remedy that CMA is seeking.

It is therefore unsurprising that CMA did not ask this Court to grant review on any question regarding the viability of the remedy it seeks in this case. See Pet'n for Rev. at 1–2 (listing five "issues for review"). CMA is now precluded from seeking review on this issue. See Cal. R. Ct. 8.516(b)(1) ("The Supreme Court may decide any issues that are raised or fairly included in the petition or answer."). Indeed, CMA all-but admits it added this issue to its Brief to obtain review of a rule announced by the Ninth Circuit after this Court already had granted review of this case. See Br. 43–44 (citing Hodges v. Comcast Cable Commc'ns, LLC, 12 F.4th 1108 (9th Cir. 2021)).

### B. If the Court Addresses Remedies, It Should Affirm the Court of Appeal on Alternative Grounds

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